# The effectiveness, cost-effectiveness and policy processes of regulatory, voluntary and partnership policies to improve food environments: an evidence synthesis

Laurence Blanchard,<sup>1</sup> Stephanie Ray,<sup>1</sup> Cherry Law,<sup>2</sup> María Jesús Vega-Salas,<sup>3</sup> Julia Bidonde,<sup>4,5</sup> Gemma Bridge,<sup>6,7</sup> Matt Egan,<sup>1</sup> Mark Petticrew,<sup>1</sup> Harry Rutter<sup>8</sup> and Cécile Knai<sup>1\*</sup>

Published September 2024 DOI: 10.3310/JYWP4049

# Plain language summary

The effectiveness, cost-effectiveness and policy processes of regulatory, voluntary and partnership policies to improve food environments: an evidence synthesis

Public Health Research 2024; Vol. 12: No. 8

DOI: 10.3310/JYWP4049

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>University of Reading, School of Agriculture, Policy and Development, Reading, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Departamento de Nutrición y Dietética, Escuela de Ciencias de la Salud, Facultad de Medicina, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>National Institute of Public Health, Department of Reviews and Health Technology Assessments, Oslo, Norway

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>School of Rehabilitation Science, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>York St John University, York Business School, York, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>University of Bath, Department of Social and Policy Sciences, Bath, UK

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author Cecile.Knai@lshtm.ac.uk

# **Plain language summary**

Poor diet is a leading cause of death, globally, including in the United Kingdom. It also causes many types of illness and is one of the biggest drains on the United Kingdom National Health Service budget.

Governments act in various ways to promote healthy diets by improving food environments: these are the physical and social surroundings that influence what and how much people eat. Some actions are regulated by government, for example, to control food production, marketing and promotions. Other actions are led by, or with, food businesses, making voluntary changes to the foods they produce, for example, by reducing salt content; this can be done by businesses alone or in partnership with government (referred to as 'public-private partnerships').

The six reviews of published research look at whether, and how, these actions to improve diets work, and whether they can provide value for money.

Most regulations appear to be effective at supporting better diets. However, voluntary changes led by businesses had limited success. There were not many evaluations that assessed the effectiveness of public-private partnerships. Of those that did, partnerships with the food industry had limited effectiveness, resulting in largely unchanged outcomes.

When looking at how these actions improve diets, we found that clear leadership, public support for the policy, the use of the best evidence and of local expertise helped with getting actions implemented. Factors that appear to make it harder to implement policy actions include a lack of evidence specific to the context, conflicting beliefs about what works, limited human or financial resources, lack of engagement by key people.

Although the findings may help us to think about the ways forward to improve diets, more research is needed to understand whether actions to reduce diet-related ill health work, and provide value for money.

## **Public Health Research**

ISSN 2050-439X (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Public Health Research (PHR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, NCBI Bookshelf, DOAJ, INAHTA, Ulrichsweb™ (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and MEDLINE.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full PHR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/phr.

## Criteria for inclusion in the Public Health Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Public Health Research* (PHR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the PHR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

Reviews in *Public Health Research* are termed 'systematic' when the account of the search appraisal and synthesis methods (to minimise biases and random errors) would, in theory, permit the replication of the review by others.

### **PHR** programme

The Public Health Research (PHR) programme, part of the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR), is the leading UK funder of public health research, evaluating public health interventions, providing new knowledge on the benefits, costs, acceptability and wider impacts of non-NHS interventions intended to improve the health of the public and reduce inequalities in health. The scope of the programme is multi-disciplinary and broad, covering a range of interventions that improve public health.

For more information about the PHR programme please visit the website: https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/public-health-research.htm

## This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the PHR programme as award number NIHR128607. The contractual start date was in July 2020. The draft manuscript began editorial review in September 2022 and was accepted for publication in August 2023. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The PHR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the PHR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the PHR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 Blanchard *et al.* This work was produced by Blanchard *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).